I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

COMES NOW the retitioner, Courtney Robinson, the Appellant 

below, by and through his attorney, William D. Hochberg, pursuant to 

RAP 13.4, and asks this Court to accept discretionary review of the 

decision designated in Part II of this motion. Mr. Robinson is a former 

professional football playet who injured his right knee during a tryout 

' 

with the Seattle Seahawks, !designed and supervised by Seahawks' head 

coach, Pete Carroll. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Petition seeks 'review of the published Division I opinion 

Robinson v. Dep 't of Labor & Industries, No. 69739-1-I, filed May 27, 

2014 (Slip op. attached at 4pp. A). 

III. ISSUES PRESEN1JED FOR REVIEW 

1. Did the Court Jf Appeals err by holding that Mr. Robinson 
was not an jployee of the Seattle Seahawks under the 
Novenson test for purposes of workers' compensation 
liability during , is mandatory try-out with the team? 

2. Does public policy and the liberal mandate of Washington's 
Industrial Insurance Act (IIA) support a limited tryout 
exception for jdb applicants to the employment requirements 
of the IIA, \\jhen these applicants are induced by the 
employer to perjform ultrahazardous activities under the guise 
of a job tryout? ' 

IV. STATEMENT OF!fHE CASE 
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In April 2010, Seatllf Seahawks coaches invited professional 

defensive back, Courtney Robinson, to attend a mini-camp tryout with the 
' 

team at their training facility in Renton, Washington. Certified Appeal 

Board Record (hereinafter "CABR"), Testimony of John Idzik, 18. The 

purpose of this mini-camp was to interview and tryout players for 

recruitment into the Seahawks' full-time player roster. CABR, Testimony of 

Courtney Robinson, 49. These mini-camps are the only way for free agents 

to join the team, and are by invitation only. !d. Prior to making such 

invitations, coaches scout players thoroughly, selecting only those players 

who can fill necessary roles on the team. CABR, Testimony of John Idzik, 6. 

Invited players may be selected for either a ''visit," which consists of 

a physical exam by a team doctor and an interview with the coaching staff, 

or a full "tryout," which involv~s the physical exam and an interview, as well 

as fieldwork and physical drills. !d. Unlike a mini-camp visit, the mini-

camp tryout involves a serious risk of injury and invited players are required 

to sign a tort liability waiver in order to participate. !d. at 28. 

Mr. Robinson was invitbd to tryout as a defensive back for a spot on 

the roster. CABR, Testimony of Courtney Robinson, 30. The Seahawks 

handled all of Mr. Robinsort's travel arrangements and expenses and 

provided him with a detailed itiherary for his trip to Seattle and a schedule of 

activities over the course of the three-day camp. !d. That schedule dictated 
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I 

his activities during both the milni-camp and off-hours. !d. at 33. When Mr. 

Robinson arrived at the Seahawks' facility, more than 2,000 miles from his 

home, the Seahawks informed him that if he did not sign a waiver giving up 

his rights to sue the Seahawks timder the common law in case of injury, they 

would not allow him to try o1t for the team. CABR, Testimony of John 

Idzik, 11. Mr. Robinson signe~ the waiver. 

After completing his team interview and passing his physical 

examination, Mr. Robinson participated in several tryout drills conducted by 

Seahawks' head coach, Pete qarroll, using team facilities and equipment. 

CABR, Testimony of Courtnet Robinson, 31-32, 36. During one drill, as 

Coach Carroll threw the ball, Mr. Robinson caught his foot in the ground and 

injured his knee. !d. The Seahawks put him on the sidelines with ice on his 

knee for the remainder of the pitactice, and then took him to the team's trainer 

for medical evaluation. !d. at 40. Mr. Robinson later rejoined the rest of the 

players for dinner, where the Seahawks informed him they were cancelling 

his tryout and sending him hole immediately. !d. at 42. Even though Mr. 

! 

Robinson had been scheduled to stay through April 15th and was in a great 
! 

deal of pain, the Seahawks told him that he would be dropped off at the hotel 

where he was to gather his ~hings and fly home that night. !d. 
I 

The 

Seahawks arranged a change i* his flight schedule as well as transportation 

to the airport. !d. at 44. 
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On June 7, 2010, Mr. kobinson applied for workers' compensation 

benefits under Washington's Industrial Insurance Act (IIA) for his knee 

injury. The Department of Labor and Industries denied his claim on the 

basis that Mr. Robinson was not an employee of the Seahawks when injured. 

Mr. Robinson appealed to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals, and the 

Industrial Appeals Judge affiflljled the Department's order and subsequently 

denied Mr. Robinson's Petitioh for Review. The King County Superior 

Court and the Washington Court of Appeals, Division I, upheld the 

Department's determination. This timely Petition for Review follows. 

The result of the Court ~f Appeals' decision is that private employers 

who induce individuals like Mr· Robinson to participate in ultrahazardous 

job tryouts that result in seri~us injuries and sometimes even death, are 

relieved of all responsibility for these injuries under either the common law 

i 

or the workers' compensatioh laws. The burden of caring for these 

individuals then falls upon th~ citizens of Washington and the federal and 

state governments. This is a matter of substantial public interest, and merits 

review by this Court. 

V. ARGUMENT 

Washington's Ind~strial Insurance Act (IIA) was enacted to 
' 

provide "sure and certainl relief for workers, injured in their work." 

RCW 51.04.010. The WaShington Legislature mandated that since there 
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is "a hazard in all emplotyment," Title 51 RCW "shall be liberally 

construed for the purpose of reducing to a minimum the suffering and 

economic loss arising from injuries and/or death occurring in the course 

of employment." RCW 51.12.010. 

In this case, the liberal mandate of the IIA, combined with 

Supreme Court precedent, 1.e., Novenson v. Spokane Culvert & 

Fabricating Co., 91 Wn.2d 550, 588 P.2d 1174 (1979), compel the 

conclusion that Mr. Robinson's official tryout with the Seattle Seahawks 

created an implicit employment relationship. Any other conclusion 

creates a dangerous and' improper precedent in Washington that 

employers, particularly employers in hazardous industries, can 

unilaterally strip workers of all possible avenues of recovery when they 

are injured in service to the! employer, merely by requiring potential new 

hires to participate in dangdrous, potentially career-ending tryouts. 
I 

Even assuming that~ Mr. Robinson is afforded no protection under 

Novenson, the Seahawks position-that Mr. Robinson should have no 

protection in either tort la"'f or workers' compensation relief-is counter 

to our state's public policy. Whether someone in Mr. Robinson's 

position-a highly skilled professional, in a high-risk, ultrahazardous, 

physically demanding occupation that requires potential employees to 

participate in dangerous physical testing simply to be considered for a 
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job-qualifies for protectiop under state workers' compensation law is 

an issue of first impression ~n this state. The solution to this dilemma is 

clear: if Novenson offers no protection to individuals like Mr. Robinson, 

the Court should affirmatively adopt a tryout exception to the test for an 

employment relationship. While this is a matter of first impression in 

Washington, numerous other states have espoused such a policy, and in 

light of the important pub lip policy concerns and the lack of law in our 

own state, this Court may appropriately look to this persuasive precedent 

for guidance in determining the proper relationship between these two 

parties. 

A. Mr. Robinson Qualifles as a Seahawks' Employee under the 
Novenson Test. 

For workers' compensation purposes, a covered worker means: 

... every person in tl)is state who is engaged in the 
employment of an emp~· oyer under this title, whether by way 
of manual labor or ot erwise in the course of his or her 
employment; also eve person in this state who is ... 
working under an independent contract, the essence of which 
is his or her personal labor for an employer under this title, 
whether by way of ma.!(lual labor or otherwise, in the course 
of his or her employment. 

RCW 51.08.180. The courts provided further guidance in Novenson v. 

Spokane Culvert & Fabricating Co., 91 Wn.2d 550, 553, 588 P.2d 1174 

(1979), setting out a tWo-prong test for determining whether an 

employer-employee relationship exists. There, the Court held that "[ f]or 
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purposes of workmen's qompensation, an employment relationship 

i 
exists only when: (1) the eiuployer has the right to control the servant's 

physical conduct in the performance of this duties, and (2) there is 

consent by the employee to this relationship." !d. 

In Mr. Robinson's case, the Court of Appeals fundamentally 

erred in its application of Novenson when it found no employment 

relationship between Mr. Robinson and the Seattle Seahawks. While 

Mr. Robinson was in Seattle at the Seahawks' request, the Seahawks 

controlled his travel itinerary, his expenses, and his scheduled activities. 

CABR, Testimony of Courtney Robinson, 30. When Mr. Robinson was 

on the field performing football drills, he consented to the Seahawks' 

right to control his physical conduct, satisfying both the first and second 

prongs of the Novenson test. 

The Court of Ajppeals emphasized that Mr. Robinson's 

participation in the mini-camp was voluntary and therefore the Seahawks 

did not have the right to control Mr. Robinson's physical conduct during 

the tryout, but this finding ~s not supported by substantial evidence. Any 
I 

employee engaged in an at-will employment relationship is present 

voluntarily and is free to leave at any time. This does not negate the 
' 
i 

employer's right to dictate the employee's work duties and the manner in 

which he performs them. Similarly, the fact that Mr. Robinson wanted 
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to participate in the mini-~amp does not mean that the team did not 

I 

control his activities. Mlr. Robinson's participation and complete 

compliance with the team~s instructions was vital to his chances of 

receiving a contract with the team. The team knew this and indeed 

exercised complete control over Mr. Robinson, both before, and-

especially telling-after hi~ injury. The Seahawks' coaches did not 

immediately allow Mr. Robinson to seek medical treatment, but waited 

to have him examined at their convenience. When they determined he 

was seriously injured, their control tightened even further. They changed 

his flight and hotel reservations and forced Mr. Robinson to leave Seattle 

immediately. Clearly, the team had the power of control over all of Mr. 

Robinson's comings and goings. Despite this uncontested evidence of 

the team's control over Mr. Robinson's activities and their concise 

actions to force Mr. Robinson to leave Seattle, the Court of Appeals 

erroneously found the Seahawks did not have the authority to discharge 

Mr. Robinson for not following his assigned itinerary or participating in 

scheduled activities. The rt:~Cord shows they did exactly that. 

In regard to the second prong of the Novenson test, which 

requires that the employee consent to the employer's control, while Mr. 

Robinson understood he had not yet signed a formal NFL contract to 

play for the Seattle Seahawks, it was also clear that he must and did 
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consent to the control of the Seahawks and demonstrate his ability to 

obey the instructions of th~ Seahawks' staff. If Mr. Robinson had not 

consented to the Seahawks' control and instruction, the team would 

never have considered him for a permanent position. 

The Court of Appee).ls cited 1000 Virginia Ltd. P 'ship v. Vertecs 
I 

Corp., 158 Wn.2d 566, 57S, 146 P.3d 423 (2006), for the proposition 

that mutual consent is required to establish an employment relationship, 

but 1000 Virginia Ltd. involved a breach of contract dispute between a 

general contractor and sev~ral subcontractors, not the standard for the 
! 

employment relationship under Washington's workers' compensation 

laws. The dispute revolved largely around discovery rules and the Court 

did not consider the employment relationship between the two parties. 

Instead, the case cit~d by Mr. Robinson, In re Kimberly J. Bemis, 

BIIA Dec. 90 5522 ( 1992), :while not binding, is highly persuasive, as the 

Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals considered the exact question 

presented here--whether an individual injured in a pre-employment 

testing program is an emplfyee for workers' compensation purposes. In 

Bemis, the claimant was injured while voluntarily participating in a flight 

attendant training program! for Alaska Airlines. In finding that Bemis 

was entitled to workers' c~mpensation payments, the Board looked to: 
I 
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"the right of control an4 discharge, payment of wages, and the 

i 

contractual relationship, whether express or implied." !d. 

The Board found that while Ms. Bemis was not yet contractually 

employed with Alaska Airlines while in the training, the company 

exerted a high degree ol control over the trainees: 100 percent 

i 

attendance was mandatory i)n order to successfully complete the program 
! 

and be considered for pemtanent employment, the training location and 

equipment were provided by the airline, and the trainers were Alaska 

Airline employees. All s-pch factors are present in the instant case. 
! 

However, instead of considering these factors and the fact Mr. Robinson 

met his burden of showiqg an implied employment relationship, the 

Court of Appeals again relied on the incorrect assertion the Seahawks 

had no control over Mr. Robinson. The Court attempted to distinguish 

Bemis on the basis the flight attendant training was attended by both new 

and experienced flight attendant trainees, while Mr. Robinson did not 

attend the mini-camp in an effort to learn any new football skills. 
I 

I 

However, this was immat~rial in Bemis and is certainly not a valid 

consideration under the Novenson test. 

In Bolin v. Kitsap Co., 114 Wn.2d 70, 785 P.2d 805 (1990), the 

Washington Supreme Court found that a juror was entitled to workers' 
I 

compensation coverage while engaged in jury duty for the county. The 
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Court noted the importan¢e of providing some protection, m either 

common law or workers' <tompensation, to injured workers. It stated: 

"the law requires the employee's consent, lest an employment 

relationship be implied without his consent to deprive him ofhis right to 

sue at common law." The purpose behind the doctrine of consent is to 

protect the employee from being forced into a relationship to which he 

has not consented. Similarly, in Bennerstrom v. Dep 't of Labor & 

Industries, 120 Wn.App. 853, 861, 86 P.3d 826 (2004), the Court noted 

that "the point of inquiry whether the putative employee consented to the 

relationship is that an empJoyee gives up valuable rights, among them 

the right to sue the employer, by being subject to the workers' 

compensation act." Where, as here, Mr. Robinson was forced to sign a 

waiver of his right to sue the Seahawks in tort to attend the Seahawks' 

mini-camp, the conseque~ces of Mr. Robinson's consent to the 

Seahawks' control is even more far-reaching. By forcing players to sign 

tort waivers and asking the courts to find players like Mr. Robinson are 

not employees, the Seahawks have made themselves immune to suit for 

injuries that are a direct result of the Seahawks' direction and control. 

The courts look to the employee's consent rather than the employer's 

because employers frequfntly seek to use workers' compensation 

coverage in order to avoid liability under common law. Thus, it is Mr. 
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Robinson's consent to thf Seahawks' control that 1s the essential 

criterion to determine whether coverage should apply. Where, as here, 

Mr. Robinson was under t~e Seahawks' control, and consented to that 

control in direction of his physical activities, Novenson and the liberal 

mandate of the IIA direct that he be provided with "sure and certain 

relief." RCW 51.04.010. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals' 

determination Mr. Robinson did not have an employee relationship with 

the Seattle Seahawks and was not entitled to workers' compensation 

protection should be overturned as contrary to the law and the evidence. 

B. Public Policy Supports a Limited "Tryout" Exception for 
Workers' Compensation Determinations. 

Nothing in Novenson dictates the shortsighted decision of the 

Court of Appeals; the clear mandate of Novenson is that the employment 

relationship should be determined based on the employer's control and 

the employee's consent, after a careful consideration of all the relevant 

factors. The Court below improperly focused on Mr. Robinson's 

decision to try out with the iSeahawks as conclusive evidence that he was 

' 

not entitled to any protecti6ns for injuries sustained while working with 

the team. However, if Novenson is twisted to exclude workers like Mr. 

Robinson from the relief aforded by the IIA, public policy demands the 

adoption of a limited excdption to the rule for the class of employees 
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who are subject to hazardous work conditions as part of a mandatory 

tryout for a potential employer. 

The tryout exceptiQll is an exception to the general rule that a 

contract for hire must exist lpefore benefits can be awarded. Courts in the 

neighboring jurisdictions o~ California and Alaska have both adopted the 

' 

tryout exception. Laeng ~. Workmen's Compensation Appeals Bd., 6 

Cal.3d 771, 100 Cal Rptr. 377, 494 P.2d 1 (1972); Childs v. Kalgin 

Island Lodge, 779 P.2d 310, 314 (Alaska 1989); Cluffv. Nana-Marriott, 

892 P .2d 164 (Alaska 1995). The principle behind the rule is that when 

an employer exposes potential employees to risks inherent in a tryout 

period and the applicant is under the employer's direction or control, a 

resulting injury should be compensable as a matter of law. Cluff, 892 

P.2d at 171, citing Childs, 779 P.2d at 314. The goal is to make sure that 

compensation benefits are provided when the risks of employment result 

in injury in situations where there is no contract for hire. Cluff, 892 P .2d 

at 173, citing Laeng, 6 Cal.3d 771 (1972). 

All the parties invtlved in this case understood Mr. Robinson 

was participating in a tryout, at the end of which he may or may not have 

received an offer of permahent employment with the Seattle Seahawks. 
! 

While the Seahawks have argued this process is legally and procedurally 

no different from an intervjew for any other job, this is simply incorrect. 
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First, Mr. Robinson could rb.ot apply for a job with the team, but tryout 

offers were extended to select players, by invitation only, at the 

discretion of Seahawks coaching personnel, only after extensive scouting 

research into potential players. Further, participation in a football mini

camp, unlike an in-office interview for a white-collar job, includes the 

serious possibility of susta~ning significant injury during the course of 

football drills and workouts. Unlike most other professional interviews, 

even death could result from participation in a football mini-camp. 

While an interviewee for an office-based position would not be 

entitled to workers' compensation if he or she was injured during an 

interview, that person would still have recourse through the common law 

and could sue for damages in tort. The fact the Seahawks forced Mr. 

Robinson to waive any tort claim strongly weighs in favor of finding 

workers' compensation coverage. There should be no doubt that the 

liability waiver he signed was a contract of adhesion. The Seahawks 

made it very clear they would not allow Mr. Robinson to proceed with 

the tryout process if he diq not sign the waiver. After traveling across 

the country to attend the mini-camp, and knowing that participation was 

the only way to receive an offer, Mr. Robinson had no bargaining 

position and no time to !::onsider the agreement, negotiate, or seek 

counsel. Mr. Robinson submitted to the Seahawks' control, and since 
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Mr. Robinson had no viabl~ option other than signing away his right to 

common law legal protection in the case of serious injury or death, 

workers' compensation is the only recovery available for Mr. Robinson. 

Under Washington law, while an employee may waive tort liability, he 

may not waive workers' compensation coverage. RCW 51.04.060. 
! 

The liberal mandat+ of the IIA, like the Alaska and California 

workers' compensation statutes at issue in Laeng and Cluff, justifies 

finding a coverage exception to protect Mr. Robinson and other workers 

similarly situated. While tfe Court of Appeals focused on California's 

statutory differences, both Washington and California provide broad 

coverage to injured workers. Just as California seeks to "protect 

individuals from any 'special risks' of employment," the IIA recognizes

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