NO. 90502-9

RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jul 22, 2014, 3:47 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON E CRF

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

COURTNEY ROBINSON,

Appellant,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, and, FOOTBALL NORTHWEST, LLC,

Respondents.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES ANSWER

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

ANNIKA SCHAROSCH Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 39392 Office Id. No. 91106 1116 W. Riverside Avenue Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 456-3123

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The Court should deny Robinson's petition for review because his challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence and his request to disregard RCW 51.08.180 and RCW 51.32.010 in the case of athletes injured while trying out for a professional sports team do not present issues of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Applying well-

established Supreme Court precedent, the Court of Appeals correctly determined no implied employment agreement was formed because substantial evidence supported the superior court's findings that the Seahawks lacked the right to control Robinson's physical conduct and there was no mutual agreement to form an employment relationship. From these findings, the Court of Appeals properly concluded, applying the test set forth in *Novenson*, no employment relationship existed at the time of injury. This routine review of the facts under uncontested law presents no issue of substantial public interest.

The Court should also decline Robinson's request to consider creating an exception to RCW 51.08.180 and RCW 51.32.010 because no issue of substantial public interest is established by a request to fashion a special remedy for a discrete class of individuals for reasons contrary to the language, intent and purpose of the Industrial Insurance Act.

A. Review for Substantial Evidence Under Established Law Does Not Present an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

The Court should deny Robinson's petition for review as his request for yet another appellate review to reweigh the evidence presented is not an issue of substantial public interest. Robinson was an interviewee seeking potential future employment with the Seahawks. The Industrial Insurance Act does not cover job applicants. Rather, workers' compensation bene-

fits are available to all workers injured in the course of employment.

RCW 51.32.010. "Worker" is defined as

every person in this state who is engaged in the employment of an employer under this title, whether by way of manual labor or otherwise in the course of his or her employment; also every person in this state who is engaged in the employment of or who is working under an independent contract, the essence of which is his or her personal labor[.]

RCW 51.08.180 (emphasis added). The terms "worker" and "employee" are used interchangeably. RCW 51.08.185.

Well-established law provides that for purposes of the Industrial Insurance Act, an employment relationship exists when there is evidence of: (1) the employer's right to control the alleged employee's physical conduct in the performance of his or her duties; and (2) a mutual agreement to establish an employment relationship.³ Novenson, 91 Wn.2d at 553. Whether these elements are met is a question of fact subject to substantial evidence appellate review. Smick v. Burnup & Sims, 35 Wn. App. 276, 279, 666 P.2d 926 (1983); Rogers v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 151 Wn. App. 174, 180, 210 P.3d 355 (2009).

³ In addition, courts have considered the existence of some form of remuneration for services performed as a factor in determining whether an employment relationship exists. Doty v. Town of South Prairie, 155 Wn.2d 527, 537, 40-42, 120 P.3d 941 (2005); *Clausen v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 15 Wn.2d 62, 69, 129 P.2d 777 (1942). The superior court found, "[t]he Seahawks did not pay Mr. Robinson wages or per diem, but they paid for his air-fare, transportation, lodging and provided him food while at the tryout during the mini-camp." CP at 46 (Finding of Fact 16).

Substantial Evidence Supports the Superior Court's Finding That the Seahawks Did Not Have the Right to Control Robinson's Physical Conduct

Applying routine substantial evidence principles, the Court of Appeals properly determined the superior court's finding that the Seahawks did not have the right to control Robinson's physical conduct in the performance of his duties was supported by substantial evidence when viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the Seahawks.

To establish the right to control, Robinson must show the Seahawks controlled the means and manner by which he physically performed job duties. *Novenson*, 91 Wn.2d at 553. Advisory direction or permission to engage in a certain activity does not constitute control. *See Clausen v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 15 Wn.2d 62, 69-71, 129 P.2d 777 (1942); *Bennerstrom v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 120 Wn. App. 853, 866, 86 P.3d 826 (2004). For example, controlling who may participate in a program is insufficient to establish an employment relationship if there is no physical control over the alleged employee's job activities. *See Bennerstrom*, 120 Wn. App. at 866. The provision of guidelines as to how work should be performed is also insufficient to establish control if the alleged employee is not required to follow the guidelines. *Id.* at 863-64. Additionally, control in and of itself is insufficient to establish employment if the

1.

employer. In re Darlene Cate, No. 00 20324, 2002 WL 529507, *6 (Wash. Bd. of Indus. Ins. Appeals Feb. 5, 2002).

The superior court properly determined Robinson failed to establish the Seahawks had the right to control his physical conduct in the performance of job duties. The purpose of the interview was to provide both parties with an opportunity to evaluate whether they wanted to enter into an employment agreement. CP 45 (Finding of Fact (FF) 5).⁴ Although the Seahawks asked Robinson to attend certain meetings and perform certain drills, he was not required to do so and the Seahawks could not control his conduct "with mandatory rules and discipline[.]" BR Idzik 17. Asking someone to participate in a tryout to demonstrate physical capabilities is not the equivalent of dictating how a person must perform duties required under a particular job description. It is advisory direction that does not amount to control. *See Clausen*, 15 Wn.2d at 69-70; *Bennerstrom*, 120 Wn. App. at 866.

While the interview process was governed by a schedule developed by the Seahawks, Robinson's participation was voluntary, he was not obligated to follow Seahawks personnel's directions at the risk of being discharged or disciplined, and he could leave at any time without incurring

⁴ Notably in Robinson's statement of the issues, he does not renew his claim that this and other findings of fact are not supported by substantial evidence and therefore these findings are verities on appeal.

any liabilities for breaching an employment agreement. BR Robinson 33, 49; BR Idzik 11, 17; CP 46 (FF 11, 17). Finally, any control the Seahawks may have had was not in furtherance of its business interests, as Robinson did not substitute for a Seahawks employee or perform tasks that financially benefited the team. CP 46 (FF 20); BR Idzik 26.

The Seahawks' lack of control over Robinson distinguishes this case from an employment relationship. Robinson's argument that the voluntariness of his participation in the tryout is the equivalent of any at-will employment situation, Pet. at 9, misconstrues the *Novenson* test. The central focus is whether the Seahawks had "the right to control the servant's *physical conduct in the performance of his duties*[.]" *Novenson*, 91 Wn.2d at 553 (emphasis added). It is the fact that Robinson voluntarily participated in the drills and the Seahawks could not force him to do so by imposing discipline, withholding pay, or terminating him that demonstrates the lack of control, not his ability to walk away from the interview. Moreover, Robinson cannot prove the Seahawks had the right to control the manner in which he performed his job duties because, as an applicant, he did not have any job duties.

Substantial Evidence Supports the Superior Court's Finding That the Seahawks and Robinson Did Not Agree to the Formation of an Employment Relationship

No review is warranted to reevaluate whether substantial evidence supported finding there was no mutual consent to an employment relationship. The formation of an employment relationship requires proof of a mutual agreement, contrary to Robinson's claim.⁵ Contra Pet. at 10. "A mutual agreement must exist between the employee and employer to establish an employee-employer relationship." Novenson, 91 Wn.2d at 553; Marsland v. Bullitt Co., 71 Wn.2d 343, 345, 428 P.2d 586 (1967) (court has "consistently held" an employment relationship requires "a consensual relationship involving the consent of both persons."); Fisher v. City of Seattle, 62 Wn.2d 800, 804, 384 P.2d 852 (1963) ("Unlike the common law, compensation law demands that, in order to find an employer-employee relation, a *mutual* agreement must exist between the employer and employee."); Jackson v. Harvey, 72 Wn. App. 507, 515, 864 P.2d 975 (1994) ("the employment relationship must be entered into mutually by the employer and employee."). "A worker's bare assertion of belief that he or she worked for this or that employer does not establish an

2.

⁵ Consent is not required if the relationship between the parties is one of involuntary servitude. *Bolin v. Kitsap Cnty.*, 114 Wn.2d 70, 72-74, 785 P.2d 805 (1990) (determining jury service constituted employment). *Bolin* is distinguishable from this case because Robinson's participation in the tryout was completely voluntary.

employment relationship." *Bennerstrom*, 120 Wn. App. at 859 (internal quotation and citation omitted).

Robinson does not challenge the superior court's findings indicating he knew the process for obtaining a contract with a professional football team, understood attending a tryout did not create or guarantee an employment relationship, and acknowledged in writing that no employment relationship existed. *See* CP 45-46 (FF 9-11, 15). Instead, he argues merely by consenting to control in the tryout process, he agreed to the formation of an employment relationship, thereby creating an implied employment relationship. Pet. at 13-14. His argument fails.

When looking at the consent test, the determinative issue is whether the parties have consented to an employment relationship, not whether one party has consented to following the directions required for applying for a job. *See Novenson*, 91 Wn.2d at 553. Robinson's proposed test is inconsistent with well-established precedent requiring mutual consent to the formation of an employment relationship and would circumvent the Legislature's intent to limit coverage to those engaged in employment.

Robinson was not offered employment with the Seahawks, explicitly or implicitly. No one guaranteed him a position, nor was he told it was highly likely that he would be offered a contract. BR Idzik 21; BR

Bradley 8, 10-11, 13.⁶ Instead, he was repeatedly informed participation in the mini-camp did *not* guarantee a contract. BR Idzik 12. Furthermore, participation in tryouts has not historically guaranteed an applicant a contract with the Seahawks. There were 16 tryout players at the minicamp Robinson attended; only five were offered contracts. BR Idzik 24. In 2010, approximately 100 players either tried out for or visited the Seahawks; only 22 were offered contracts. BR Idzik 12-13. The tryout was merely an interview. The Seahawks did not offer or agree, implicitly or explicitly, to the formation of an employment agreement.

Robinson's attempt to reweigh the evidence and evade the requirements of *Novenson*, RCW 51.08.180, and RCW 51.32.010 does not present an issue of substantial public interest.

B. Robinson's Attempt to Circumvent RCW 51.08.180 and RCW 51.32.010 to Create an Exception for Professional Football Players Does Not Present an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

An attempt to circumvent the plain language of the Industrial Insurance Act does not create an issue of substantial public interest. By statute, industrial insurance benefits are available for employees injured in

⁶ The Court of Appeals properly distinguished this case from the circumstances present in the Board's decision in *In re Kimberly Bemis*, No. 90 5522, 1992 WL 160668 (Wash. Bd. of Indus. Ins. Appeals May 1, 1992). In *Bemis*, the Board concluded an implied employment agreement could be formed if an entity guarantees an applicant employment upon successful completion of mandatory training. 1992 WL 160668, at *6. *Bemis* is distinguishable because Robinson was not guaranteed future employment if he participated in the tryout.

the course of employment, not job applicants. RCW 51.08.180; RCW 51.32.010. Robinson asks this Court to ignore the statutory requirements and create an exception for athletes trying out for a professional football team because of the hazardous nature of playing football. His argument does not merit the Court's review as it involves a discrete group of individuals and is contrary to well-established Washington law.

From its earliest inception, the Industrial Insurance Act has required an employment relationship. See Cartsen v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 172 Wash. 51, 52, 19 P.2d 133 (1933); Clausen, 15 Wn.2d at 69 (factors to consider in determining the existence of an employment relationship include the right of control, payment of wages, and a contractual relationship); Fisher, 62 Wn.2d at 804; Doty v. Town of South Prairie, 155 Wn.2d 527, 535, 120 P.3d 941 (2005) ("For an injured person to fall within the statute's protection, they must in fact be a worker."). In 1937, the Legislature added certain independent contractors. See White v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 48 Wn.2d 470, 473-74, 294 P.2d 650 (1956). But no provision for job applicants has ever been added by the Legislature or recognized by the courts.

Furthermore, Robinson concedes a person interviewing for an office position should not be entitled to workers' compensation benefits if he or she is injured during the interview. Pet. at 16. Yet, there is no

legitimate reason under the Industrial Insurance Act to distinguish between a professional football player and an administrative assistant. Robinson's attempt to carve out an exception for "a highly skilled professional, in a high-risk, ultrahazardous, physically demanding occupation[,]" Pet. at 7, is contrary to the language, purpose and intent of the Industrial Insurance Act.

The Industrial Insurance Act originally applied only to employees engaged in extra-hazardous work. *Doty*, 155 Wn.2d at 531; *Scott v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 77 Wn.2d 888, 892, 468 P.2d 440 (1970) (noting the Industrial Insurance Act only applied to employments that were "'inherently constantly dangerous' in the light of 'modern industrial conditions'"). In 1971, the Legislature extended coverage to all types of employment, with a few statutorily enumerated exceptions. *Doty*, 155 Wn.2d at 531. The law now states, "[t]here is a hazard in all employment and it is the purpose of this title to embrace all employments which are within the legislative jurisdiction of the state." RCW 51.12.010.

There is no basis in the Industrial Insurance Act for distinguishing between a person interviewing for a defensive back position who is asked to perform a physical agility test and a person interviewing to be an administrative assistant who is asked to take a keyboarding test. *See Wash. State Sch. Dirs. Assoc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 82 Wn.2d 367,

372, 510 P.2d 818 (1973) (noting "[t]he secretary who trips and falls over a piece of carpet is as injured and in need of the coverage provided by the act as is the workman in the lumber mill who trips and falls."). The Court should reject Robinson's invitation to create an exception to the statutory requirements of the Industrial Insurance Act solely for those people interviewing for hazardous positions as such a distinction is contrary to RCW 51.12.010.

Robinson's suggestion that the Court should follow the approaches taken by California and Alaska should also be disregarded as it would require the Court to reject its prior case law and ignore the plain language of the Industrial Insurance Act. The reasoning of these out-of-state cases, which emphasized extending workers' compensation coverage to tryouts for hazardous jobs, is inapplicable under Washington's current Industrial Insurance Act. The court must interpret the Act, which is distinct, not the laws of other states. *Cockle v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 142 Wn.2d 801, 815, 16 P.3d 583 (2001). Furthermore, many other states have determined applicants who are injured during an interview process before being offered or guaranteed employment are not employees. *E.g., Boyd v. City of Montgomery*, 515 So.2d 6 (Ala. Civ. App. 1987); *Younger v. City of Denver*, 810 P.2d 647, 653 (Colo. 1991); *Bugryn v. State*, 97 Conn. App. 324, 330, 904 A.2d 269 (App. Ct. 2006); *Sellers v. City of Abbeville*, 458

So.2d 592 (La. Ct. App. 1984); Leslie v. Sch. Servs. & Leasing, Inc., 947
S.W.2d 97 (Mo. Ct. App. 1997); Cust-O-Fab v. Bohon, 876 P.2d 736
(Okla. Ct. App. 1994); Dykes v. State Accident Ins. Fund, 47 Or. App.
187, 613 P.2d 1106 (Ct. App. 1980).

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